**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA**

NO SOLAR TAX PAC, a Nevada  
political action committee,

Appellant,

vs.

CITIZENS FOR SOLAR AND  
ENERGY FAIRNESS, a Nevada  
political action committee; and,  
THE HONORABLE BARBARA K.  
CEGAVSKE, in her official capacity as  
Secretary of State of the State of Nevada,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed  
May 06 2016 11:17 a.m.  
Tracie K. Lindeman  
Clerk of Supreme Court

**CASE NO. 70146**

First Judicial Dist. Ct. 16 OC 00030 1B

**OPENING BRIEF**

WHITE HART LAW  
Kevin Benson, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 9970  
2310 S. Carson Street #6  
Carson City, Nevada 89701  
(775) 461-3780  
[kbenson@whitehartlaw.com](mailto:kbenson@whitehartlaw.com)

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) and NRAP 3A(b)(3). This is an appeal from a final order resolving all claims presented to the district court. NRAP 3A(b)(1). It is also an appeal from an order granting an injunction. NRAP 3A(b)(3).

The final order was entered on April 7, 2016. Notice of entry of the order was served on April 8, 2016. The notice of appeal was filed on April 8, 2016. This appeal is timely because it was filed less than 30 days after the entry of the final judgment, as required by NRAP 4(a)(1).

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(3) because it is a case involving a ballot or election issue, more specifically: whether a petition which refers to the voters certain parts of a statute, but not an entire statute, is a valid referendum petition under Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 1, which permits a referendum on a “statute ... or any part thereof,” and whether the Secretary of State should be enjoined from placing such a referendum petition on the 2016 general election ballot.

## **ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 1 permits referenda on a “statute ... or any part thereof.” This Referendum attempts to refer to the voters those provisions of Chapter 379, Statutes of Nevada (2015), that authorized the Public Utilities Commission to impose new rates and charges on net metering customers. Did the district court err when it declined to apply the plain language of Nev. Const. Art. 19, Section 1, and instead held that this Referendum is not a valid referendum because it seeks to repeal only certain parts of the statute, and therefore is “amending” the law?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 25, 2016, Appellant No Solar Tax PAC (“Solar”) filed a referendum petition with the Secretary of State seeking to repeal part of Statutes of Nevada, Chapter 379 (2015) that relate to net metering systems. Joint Appendix (“JA”) 8. Specifically, the Referendum seeks to repeal only those parts of Chapter 379 that authorized the Nevada Public Utilities Commission to impose new rates and charges on net metering customers that are different from the rates and charges imposed on other members of the same rate class. JA 8-13. The Referendum would leave other parts of Chapter 379 intact.<sup>1</sup> *Id.*

On February 16, 2016, the Citizens for Solar and Energy Fairness (“CSEF”), filed its Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief pursuant to NRS 295.009 and NRS 295.061. JA 1. Also on February 16, 2016, CSEF filed its opening brief in support of its Complaint. JA 19.

The Complaint contains two claims. First, it alleged that the Referendum was an initiative petition, not a referendum, because it “amended” the law by changing its meaning, even though CSEF concedes that the Referendum only asks the voters to repeal certain parts of Chapter 379. JA 5. Second, the Complaint

---

<sup>1</sup> The Petition would repeal language in Section 2.95 of Chapter 379 related to the “cap” on net metering systems. The cap was reached in August 2015. Section 2.95 allows net metering to continue after that cap is reached. Thus the current law already effectively removed the cap, and the Referendum would not change that.



alleged that the Referendum's Description of Effect ("DOE") was defective under NRS 295.009. *Id.*

On March 2, 2016, Solar filed its Answer and Answering Brief. JA 37, 43. On March 4, 2016, the Secretary of State filed her Answer. JA 59. On March 9, 2016, CSEF filed its Reply Brief. JA 65.

The matter could not be set for hearing before the district court until March 28, 2016. On that date, the district court heard arguments from counsel for all parties. JA 177-225.

After hearing arguments, the district court ruled that the Referendum was more properly characterized as an initiative petition instead of a referendum. JA 45-46. The district court found that the Referendum "proposes a substantial change to the law and not a yay or nay vote on a statute or part thereof." JA 227. It also stated: "The subject Referendum Petition does not present a yay or nay vote on a part of a statute, but rather systematic changes to various portions and words of the statute in a piecemeal approach." *Id.* Finally, the district court held: "The subject Referendum Petition is not a referendum as provided for in Article 19, Section 1 of the Nevada Constitution, but is actually an attempt to amend the statute which requires an initiative pursuant to Article 19, Section 2 of the Nevada Constitution." *Id.*

Based on this holding, the district court granted CSEF declaratory and injunctive relief on its first claim and enjoined the Secretary of State from placing the Referendum on the ballot. JA 227. However, the district court stayed the injunction pending appeal so that signatures could be gathered and verified to determine if the Referendum qualifies for the ballot. *Id.*

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

In 2015, the Legislature enacted and the Governor signed into law Chapter 379 of the 2015 Statutes of Nevada. 2015 Stat. Nev. Ch. 379. Among other things, Chapter 379 authorized the Public Utilities Commission to impose new rates and charges on net metering customers that are different from the rates and charges imposed on other customers in the same rate class. *Id.* at § 2.3, 2.5, 2.95, 4.5.

Relying on this statute, the Public Utilities Commission entered an order on December 23, 2015 which slashed the rates that net metering customers were paid for the excess energy they produced from approximately 11 cents / kWh to less than 3 cents / kWh. It also imposed a new, much higher, fixed monthly fee on net metering customers. PUC Order in Dockets #15-07041, 15-07042 (Dec. 23, 2015).<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Available at: [http://pucweb1.state.nv.us/PDF/AxImages/DOCKETS\\_2015\\_THRU\\_PRESENT/2015-7/8412.pdf](http://pucweb1.state.nv.us/PDF/AxImages/DOCKETS_2015_THRU_PRESENT/2015-7/8412.pdf) (Last visited May 1, 2016). The Court may take judicial notice of the existence of and contents of the PUC's official orders. NRS 47.130.

The PUC's new tariff led to substantial controversy. In February, 2016, the PUC amended its order to give some relief to those homeowners who installed their systems prior to the decision, but it still refused to grandfather those customers in at the old rates, even though all parties before it recommended grandfathering. PUC Order in Dockets #15-07041, 15-07042 (Feb. 12, 2016).<sup>3</sup> Hundreds of people attended the PUC hearings to express their disagreement with its actions.<sup>4</sup> *Id.*

Appellant filed the instant Referendum petition with the Secretary of State on January 25, 2016. JA 8. The Referendum asks the voters whether they approve or disapprove of those provisions in Chapter 379 that authorized the PUC to impose the new rates and charges on net metering customers. JA 8-13. If the voters disapprove of those provisions, the effect will be to abolish the PUC's new tariff on net metering customers, while allowing net metering to continue after the cap. All other parts of Chapter 379 would remain in the law. *Id.*

---

<sup>3</sup> Available at:

[http://pucweb1.state.nv.us/PDF/AxImages/DOCKETS\\_2015\\_THRU\\_PRESENT/2015-7/9692.pdf](http://pucweb1.state.nv.us/PDF/AxImages/DOCKETS_2015_THRU_PRESENT/2015-7/9692.pdf) (Last visited May 1, 2016).

<sup>4</sup> See e.g., *Ralston Live*, March 17, 2016. Available at:

<http://www.pbs.org/video/2365692428/> (Last visited May 1, 2016) (discussing controversy with PUC Chairman, in which the Chairman concedes that the new tariff will cause financial distress to some customers). The Court may take judicial notice of the public information in the media generally covering the controversy surrounding the PUC's decision. NRS 47.130.

However, the language in Chapter 379 authorizing the new rates and charges is not compartmentalized into one section or subsection of the statute. Instead, the language is scattered throughout Chapter 379, particularly in Sections 2.3, 2.5, 2.95, and 4.5. As a result, in some cases, the Referendum refers to the people only those parts of the statute which have to do with the new rates and charges. JA 10.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court made a truly unprecedented decision in this case. It ruled that the Referendum, which meets all the formal requirements of Nev. Const. Article 19, Section 1, is invalid because it would “substantially change” the law and is therefore should be characterized as an initiative petition instead. It appears that no court in the nation has ever invalidated a referendum petition on these grounds. This decision is contrary to the plain language of the Nevada Constitution.

Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 1 expressly permits a referendum on a “statute or ... part thereof.” There is no dispute that this Referendum only seeks to repeal part of the statute. Therefore the district court erred when it failed to apply the plain language of the Constitution.

The people’s referendum power is coequal, coextensive, and concurrent with the power of the Legislature to repeal all or part of a statute. Therefore the people

are authorized to repeal any part of a statute through referendum that the Legislature could repeal through a bill.

The referendum power includes the power to “change” the law by rejecting those parts of it that the people disagree with. Nearly all referenda on a part of a law will “change” the remaining law to some degree, yet the Nevada Constitution explicitly permits referenda on only part of a law. Thus the district court applied an incorrect standard when it determined that the Referendum is invalid because it would “substantially change” the law.

Finally, the standard applied by the district court restricts the right to referendum, both legally and practically. It fails to offer any guidance to people drafting petitions as to what is valid and what is not. It will only generate confusion, uncertainty, and litigation. The district court’s decision must therefore be reversed.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This district court’s ruling that the Referendum is not a valid referendum petition is a conclusion of law, which is reviewed *de novo*. *Nevadans for Nevada v. Beers*, 122 Nev. 930, 942, 142 P.3d 339, 347 (2006). The opponent of a petition bears the burden of demonstrating that the petition is “clearly invalid.” *Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability Comm. v. City Council of City of Las Vegas*, 125 Nev. 165, 176, 208 P.3d 429, 436 (2009).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The District Court’s Decision Conflicts with the Plain Language of the Nevada Constitution.**

The district court’s decision must be overturned because it conflicts with the plain language of the Nevada Constitution. Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 1 provides in pertinent part: “A person who intends to circulate a petition that a statute or resolution **or part thereof** enacted by the legislature be submitted to a vote of the people, before circulating the petition for signatures, shall file a copy thereof with the secretary of state.” (Emphasis added.)

Sections 2 and 3 of Article 19, § 1 repeatedly refers to a referendum on “a statute ... or *any* part thereof:”

Whenever a number of registered voters of this state equal to 10 percent or more of the number of voters who voted at the last preceding general election shall express their wish by filing with the secretary of state, not less than 120 days before the next general election, a petition in the form provided for in Section 3 of this Article that any statute or resolution **or any part thereof** enacted by the legislature be submitted to a vote of the people, the officers charged with the duties of announcing and proclaiming elections and of certifying nominations or questions to be voted upon shall submit the question of approval or disapproval of such statute or resolution **or any part thereof** to a vote of the voters at the next succeeding election at which such question may be voted upon by the registered voters of the entire State. The circulation of the petition shall cease on the day the petition is filed with the secretary of state or such other date as may be prescribed for the verification of the number of signatures affixed to the petition, whichever is earliest.

Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 1(2) (emphasis added). Section 3 continues:

If a majority of the voters voting upon the proposal submitted at such election votes approval of such statute or resolution **or any part thereof**, such statute or resolution **or any part thereof** shall stand as the law of the state and shall not be amended, annulled, repealed, set aside, suspended or in any way made inoperative except by the direct vote of the people. If a majority of such voters votes disapproval of such statute or resolution **or any part thereof**, such statute or resolution **or any part thereof** shall be void and of no effect.

Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 1(3) (emphasis added).

The Nevada Constitution authorizes referenda on only a part of a statute by using the plain language “a statute ... or any part thereof.” Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 1(2). The phrase “part thereof” is not qualified in any way. In fact, the Constitution refers to referenda on statutes “or *any part thereof*” no fewer than six times. Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 1(2), 1(3).

The plain meaning of the word “part” is “(1): one of the often indefinite or unequal subdivisions into which something is or is regarded as divided and which together constitute the whole (2): an essential portion or integral element.” “Part.” Merriam-Webster.com. Accessed April 22, 2016. <http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/part>.

The word “part” is *indefinite*; it can mean a number of components. For example, it could mean a section of a statute, or subsection, or a sentence, or phrase. It can also mean an idea, a policy, or a method. It is significant that the Nevada Constitution uses the indefinite word “part” instead of “section” or other, more precise term. If it was intended that partial referendums could be had only on

“sections” of a law, the Constitution could have easily and simply said “or any section thereof.” But it does not. The Nevada Constitution uses the indefinite word “part” instead. This shows that “part thereof” was intended to apply broadly. Additionally, this broad application is made clear by the repeated use of the phrase “or *any* part thereof” throughout Article 19, § 1.

The word “any” means: “(1): one or some indiscriminately of whatever kind: *a* : one or another taken at random <ask *any* man you meet> *b* : every —used to indicate one selected without restriction <*any* child would know that>” “Any.” Merriam-Webster.com. Accessed April 22, 2016. <http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/any>.

The plain meaning of the word “any” is to refer to an indefinite thing of whatever kind. *Id.* For example, “any person” means just that – *any* person, of whatever kind, without restriction, whether an individual or a corporation. *See e.g., W. Sur. Co. v. ADCO Credit, Inc.*, 251 P.3d 714, 716 (Nev. 2011) (term “any person” in statute means that *any* person, not just a consumer, could bring an action under the statute).

The phrase “any part thereof” is not ambiguous. It cannot be reasonably interpreted to mean only a section or subsection of a statute, but not certain sentences or phrases within a statute. Nothing in the Nevada Constitution limits the term, or even suggests that the word “part” is so limited. Indeed, such a



construction is foreclosed because Article 19, § 1 uses the term “*any part thereof*” no fewer than six times. The Nevada Constitution must be given its plain meaning, which is that any part of a statute can be subject to referendum, whether that is a section, a subsection, or a sentence within a statute.

The district court erred by ignoring the plain language of Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 1 and holding that the Referendum is invalid. When unambiguous, the plain meaning of the words in the Constitution is controlling. *We People Nevada ex rel. Angle v. Miller*, 124 Nev. 874, 881, 192 P.3d 1166, 1171 (2008). “The rule is cardinal and universal that if a law is plain and unambiguous, there is no room for construction or interpretation.” *Ex parte Rickey*, 31 Nev. 82, 100 P. 134, 141 (1909). “[W]hen the language of a statute is plain, its intention must be deduced from such language, and the Court has no right to go beyond it.” *State v. Washoe Cty. Comm'rs*, 6 Nev. 104, 107 (1870).

Other states have simply applied the plain language of their constitutions and allowed referenda similar to the Referendum here. The Michigan Attorney General opined that a referendum on single sentences or parts of subsections within a statute was allowed. Mich. Op. Atty. Gen. 1941-42, No. 20573, p. 266. The referendum at issue there would repeal a part of a subsection of the fish and game law which read: “Bluegills and sunfish from the 25<sup>th</sup> day of June to the 31<sup>st</sup> day of December, provided that it shall be unlawful to take bluegills and sunfish

through the ice or have in possession on the ice between the hours of six o'clock in the evening and six o'clock in the morning, eastern standard time,". *Id.* It would also repeal another sentence of the law making certain commercial licenses revocable at the will of the director of conservation. *Id.* Referring to the plain language of the Michigan Constitution, the Michigan Attorney General concluded that the referendum was proper because it was on a "part" of the statute. *Id.*

Likewise, according to the plain language of Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 1, "any part thereof" means just what it says: that *any* part of a statute may be subject to referendum. The district court therefore erred in holding that this Referendum is invalid, because the Referendum only refers certain parts of a statute, which is explicitly permitted by the plain text of the Nevada Constitution.

## **II. The People's Referendum Power is Coequal with the Legislature's Power, Therefore the People Can Repeal Any Part of a Statute the Legislature Could Repeal.**

This Court has previously held that the people's petition power is "coequal, coextensive, and concurrent' with that of the Legislature." *Nevadans for the Prot. of Prop. Rights, Inc. v. Heller*, 122 Nev. 894, 914, 141 P.3d 1235, 1248 (2006); *see also We People Nevada ex rel. Angle v. Miller*, 124 Nev. 874, 887, 192 P.3d 1166, 1174, n. 39 (2008) (the people ultimately hold all legislative power).

That which the Legislature can do, so can the people. The Legislature can, of course, enact a statute with various parts. It can also repeal certain phrases,

sentences, or subsections within a statute. The people can likewise reject any of those parts through referendum. Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 1.

Other states have recognized that the people are empowered through referendum to repeal any part of a law that the legislature could repeal through a bill. For example, the Arizona Constitution provides in pertinent part that the people have reserved to themselves “the power to approve or reject at the polls any Act, or item, section, or part of any Act, of the Legislature.” Ariz. Const. Art. IV, pt. 1, § 1(1).

The Arizona Attorney General concluded that the people were entitled to repeal the part of a single-section law that moved the observance of Columbus Day from a Monday to a Sunday, while keeping the part of the act that designated the third Monday in January as Martin Luther King, Jr. Day. 1989 Ariz. Op. Atty. Gen. 156 (Oct. 19, 1989). The result would be to keep the newly-created Martin Luther King, Jr. Day as a paid holiday, while restoring Columbus Day as a paid holiday as well.

The Arizona Attorney General found the referendum was valid, reasoning that the lawmaking authority of the people and the Legislature were equal: “The Legislature certainly has the power to adopt legislation which repeals only a part of a section of a statute and, therefore, so do the people.” *Id.* The opinion continues: “To conclude that the people may not repeal part of a section would mean that the

people could not exercise their full right of referendum over a single section act. This is an absurd result which we conclude the framers of our constitution could not have intended.” *Id.*

The Oregon Attorney General likewise opined: “As coordinate in legislative powers we conclude the people have power to delete by referendum any item, section or part of an Act which the legislature could itself have deleted in the legislative process.” 32 Or. Op. Atty. Gen. 156 (March 16, 1965).

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