#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NO SOLAR TAX PAC, a Nevada political action committee,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jun 07 2016 12:45 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court Case No. 70146

vs.

CITIZENS FOR SOLAR AND ENERGY FAIRNESS, a Nevada political action committee; and, THE HONORABLE BARBARA K. CEGAVSKE, in her official capacity as Secretary of State of the State of Nevada,

Respondents.

ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, CITIZENS FOR SOLAR AND ENERGY FAIRNESS

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

VI.

Article 19 of the Nevada Constitution provides two separate mechanisms that allow for voters to affect the laws of the State of Nevada. The first is referred to as a referendum and may be used only to put a statute or a distinct and severable part of a statute to the voters for an up or down vote. The second mechanism is the initiative, which must be used when the voters desire to add or amend statutes.

No Solar's construction of Article 19 of the Constitution, which is that an initiative is only required when adding language, but not deleting language, violates sound principles of constitutional construction, which are that provisions of the Nevada Constitution must be read together to give effect and harmonize each provision. No Solar's construction of the referendum process, laid out in Article 19 of the Constitution, would render the initiative provisions meaningless and result in an entirely new law in Nevada. An amendment is not only the addition of language to a statute but also the deletion of language, which can only be accomplished through the initiative process.

Appellant, No Solar improperly attempts to use the referendum process to amend SB 374 by referring single, inseparable words and phrases thereof for a vote of the people. The referendum process may not be used to amend existing statutes. Further, the law that would result from No Solar's piecemeal amendment by deletion of words and phrases contains ambiguities and nonsensical grammar issues that are left wholly unaddressed by No Solar's Referendum.

While the District Court invalidated No Solar's Referendum on the basis that it did not qualify as a referendum, the District Court declined to render judgment on the issue of whether the Referendum's required Description of Effect met the statutory standard set forth in NRS 295.009. Nevertheless, even if this Court determines that the District Court's reasoning for invalidating the Referendum was incorrect, this Court should uphold the District Court's conclusion on the basis that the Description of Effect is invalid.

A Description of Effect must set forth the effect of approval of the Referendum in clear and concise terms. No Solar's Description of Effect completely fails to describe the effect of approval of the referred words and phrases. In addition, it fails to describe significant effects that will result if the referred words and phrases are disapproved – namely, that the Referendum seeks to remove all administrative oversight of solar rates and subsidies while also leaving in place the legislature's removal of the previously imposed cap on subsidies. The effect is that non-solar customers will be faced with subsidizing solar customers without limit over the next several decades. The PUCN estimated that, unchecked, this subsidy would grow to approximately \$640 million. Failure to disclose this effect is fatal to the Referendum.

Furthermore, counsel for No Solar indicated in pleadings and at the hearing before the District Court that the Description of Effect may be deficient, and offered to rewrite the Description of Effect. The District Court did not require No Solar to rewrite the Description of Effect, because it invalidated the Referendum on the basis that it failed to qualify as a referendum. Nevertheless, the deficiencies in the Description of Effect are reason to invalidate the Referendum.

#### VII.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Judgments involving injunctions where factual issues are not disputed are reviewed de novo. <u>Nevadans for Nevada v. Beers</u>, 122 Nev. 930, 942, 142 P.3d 339, 347 (2006). Issues of statutory and constitutional construction are also reviewed de novo. <u>Nevadans for Prop. Rights v. Sec'y of State</u>, 122 Nev. 894, 901, 141 P.3d 1235, 1240 (2006).

#### VIII.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. <u>The Referendum seeks to amend SB 374 rather than approve or</u> <u>disapprove it, which disqualifies it as a referendum under Article 19,</u> <u>Section 1 of the Nevada Constitution</u>.

Section 1 of Article 19 of the Nevada Constitution empowers Nevada voters to refer a statute or resolution or a part thereof enacted by the Legislature for a vote to approve or disapprove the same. A referendum petition that acquires the number of signatures required by the Constitution may be placed on the ballot at the next general election. The referendum power of the people does not, however, allow for enacting or amending Nevada statutes.

Instead, the voters' authority to enact or amend Nevada statutes is set forth in Section 2 of Article 19 of the Nevada Constitution. In order to enact or amend Nevada statutes, Nevada voters must circulate an initiative petition, which may propose statutes or amendments to statutes for enactment or rejection at the polls. However, Section 2 of Article 19 adds the extra step of first referring the initiative petition to the Nevada Legislature for its consideration. <u>See</u> Nevada Const. art. XIX, § 2(3). If the Legislature rejects the initiative petition, only then is the initiative placed on the ballot at the next general election.

#### 1. <u>A Referendum is limited to the approval or disapproval of already</u> <u>enacted legislation</u>.

The Nevada Supreme Court recognizes that "[r]eferendum is the electorate's power to approve or disapprove already-enacted legislation, while initiative is the electorate's power to directly enact legislation by popular vote." <u>Garvin v. Ninth</u> <u>Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. County of Douglas</u>, 118 Nev. 749, 753, 59 P.3d 1180, 1183 (2002). The difference between a referendum and an initiative is whether voters are being asked to repeal a statute or amend one. The issue here is whether the proposed Referendum, through a process of selective editing, amends a statute rather than merely asking voters to approve or disapprove of it. The district court

determined that the measure at issue in the present case was an initiative, not a referendum. That ruling was correct.

The analysis required in determining whether to seek action through initiative or referendum is also set forth on page 1 of the Nevada Secretary of State's Initiative & Referendum Guide for 2016, which provides a clear distinction between initiatives and referenda:

WHAT ARE INITIATIVES & REFERENDA?

Initiatives are a device by which voters enact state or local laws. Referenda are a device by which voters approve or disapprove of existing state or local laws. They are both methods of involving voters directly in the legislative process of government.

Specifically, an initiative petition can do one of the following:

- 1. Propose a new state statute;
- 2. Amend an existing state statute;
- 3. Amend the Nevada Constitution;
- 4. Propose a new county or municipal ordinance; or
- 5. Amend an existing county or municipal ordinance

A referendum petition can only approve or disapprove a statute, resolution, or ordinance that was enacted by the State Legislature, Board of County Commissioners, or City Council.

Appellant, No Solar, seeks to draft its preferred law and to avoid the extra

step of having its proposed amendments to SB 374 considered by the Nevada

Legislature by attempting to improperly use the referendum process to effectuate

creating a new law, instead of properly using the initiative process to effectuate such a change. The rationale for why No Solar is employing the referendum process is simple. A referendum petition signed by the appropriate number of voters may be placed on the ballot for the November 2016 general election and, if the referred words and phrases are disapproved by the voters, has the immediate effect of being the law. Whereas, an initiative would be considered by the Legislature during the 2017 legislative session where, if it were rejected, it would not be placed on the ballot until November 2018, thereby adding time and risk to No Solar's objective. Put simply, this is an effort to shortcut the appropriate process to amend a statute to effectuate the interests of No Solar more quickly. This improper use of the referendum process must not be allowed.

# 2. <u>No Solar's selective editing is an effort to amend SB 374 and thus is an initiative, not a referendum</u>.

No Solar seeks unquestionably to amend SB 374 rather than approve or disapprove it, therefore rendering its proposed action an initiative rather than a referendum. No Solar is not free to choose between using a referendum versus using an initiative. First, examining the proposed referendum clearly illustrates that it is an effort to amend the law, not repeal it. Illustrating this point is the fact that Section 2.3 of SB 374, which would add a new section to NRS Chapter 704, is not set out in the Referendum for approval or disapproval. Instead, No Solar seeks

to alter the language of Section 2.3 by removing portions of sentences contained

therein. Section 2.3 of SB 374 reads in pertinent part as follows:

Chapter 704 of NRS is hereby amended by adding thereto a new section to read as follows:

1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 3, each utility shall, in accordance with a tariff filed by the utility and approved by the Commission, offer net metering to customer-generators who submit applications to install net metering systems within its service territory after the date on which the cumulative capacity requirement described in paragraph (a) of subsection 1 of NRS 704.773 is met.

Instead of referring subsection 1 of Section 2.3 of SB 374 to the voters for

approval or disapproval, No Solar asks voters to consider an amended version

thereof as follows:

Chapter 704 of NRS is hereby amended by adding thereto a new section to read as follows:

1. [Except as otherwise provided in subsection 3,] each utility shall, [in accordance with a tariff filed by the utility and approved by the Commission,] offer net metering to customer-generators who submit applications to install net metering systems within its service territory [after the date on which the cumulative capacity requirement described in paragraph (a) of subsection 1 of NRS 704.773 is met].

As provided in No Solar's Description of Effect, the bolded, bracketed, and underlined portions of Section 2.3 are to be deleted from SB 374 if the referred language is disapproved, leaving the section to read as follows: Sec. 2.3 Chapter 704 of NRS is hereby amended by adding thereto a new section to read as follows:

1. each utility shall, offer net metering to customergenerators who submit applications to install net metering systems within its service territory.

There is no doubt that what the No Solar seeks to do is to amend Section 2.3 of SB 374 rather than approve or disapprove of the same. No Solar's systematical deletion of words in SB 374 creates an entirely new law (no net metering cap or oversight on net metering rates) that was never contemplated by the Legislature or existed in NRS Chapter 704 prior to the enactment of SB 374.

Moreover, the amended provision would contain a sentence that begins with a subsection number (1)<sup>1</sup> and an uncapitalized word and includes a grammatically incorrect comma, problems that are left wholly unaddressed by the Referendum because to address it would be to clearly concede that No Solar seeks to amend SB 374 rather than refer it to the voters for approval. Nevertheless, the result of the Referendum, if the referred words and phrases are disapproved, would be an amendment of SB 374 and more broadly NRS Chapter 704, which cannot legally be accomplished by a referendum but must be part of an initiative petition instead.

Indeed, if the Legislature were to take up a similar revision to Section 2.3 of SB 374, it would amend the section, bracketing out discarded language, and adding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> If the referred words and phrases are disapproved, the resulting section would include a subsection 1 and no other subsections, only adding to the ambiguity of this proposal.

new language. In addition to the deletions noted in the Referendum, the Legislature would delete the word "each" and add it back as new language, properly capitalized. Amendments are the legislative counterpart to initiative, whereas repeal is the legislative counterpart to referendum, and the Legislature would make these changes by amendment.

Similar surgical-style amendments are proposed to portions of Section 2.95 of SB 374, leaving in this instance a capitalized word in the middle of a sentence. If the referred language is disapproved, Section 2.95 would read as follows:

**Sec. 2.95.** NRS 704.773 is hereby amended to read as follows:

704.773 1. A utility shall offer net metering In accordance with the provisions of this section, NRS 704.774 and 704.775, to the customer-generators operating within its service area.

Leaving out the portions of NRS 704.773 that were deleted by SB 374 would further indicate No Solar's intent to amend SB 374 rather than disapprove it. If this Referendum is considered by the voters and approved, the ambiguity as a result of this piecemeal deletion of phrases and words in the Referendum itself will undoubtedly lead to future litigation dealing with the hopeless confusion and uncertainty in interpreting and applying the amended statutes.

///

///

# 3. <u>By failing to address portions of the statute deleted by SB 374 and attempting to delete individual words and phrases, No Solar's Petition is not a Referendum of SB 374.</u>

By failing to address the portions of NRS 704.773 that were deleted by SB 374, the Referendum inaccurately gives voters the impression that disapproval of the referred words and phrases will restore the prior status quo. This is simply not the case because the Referendum does not address the deleted portions of the statute and No Solar does not attempt to address this, because to do so would unequivocally make this Referendum an initiative (amendment of statute). Based upon the substance of that portion of the statute deleted by SB 374 (a 3% cap on net metering), failure to address that fact in this Referendum is extremely misleading and prejudicial to petition signers and voters.

First, if the referred words and phrases are ultimately disapproved by the voters, pre-SB 374 statutory protections such as the 3% net metering cap will not be revived because that portion of the law is not addressed by the Referendum. Thus an entirely new law and policy will be created, resulting in non-solar customers of electric utilities in Nevada being unfairly forced to subsidize solar net metering owners, potentially in the amount of hundreds of millions of dollars over the coming decades. JA 0157 to 0173. This is an abuse of the referendum process that the residents of Nevada cannot afford.

No Solar tries to hide this fact by arguing that it is merely "requesting a yay or nay vote on a part of the statute[.]" Opening Br. at 14. This is incorrect. No Solar seeks to amend the statute by altering the way net metering operates in Nevada. The proposed referendum does not merely remove an enacted statutory principle. Instead, as discussed above, it fundamentally changes the net metering program. Net metering is *amended* to operate in a different manner. This is consistent with the effect of an initiative and not a referendum.

Second, selective deletion of individual words or phrases, creating new laws, must be considered an amendment rather than a referendum on the deleted words, because treating this as a referendum will lead to absurd results, which are always disfavored in statutory or constitutional interpretation. Indeed, No Solar's position that "repealing" certain individual words of a statute falls within the purview of the referendum process is in violation of well-established precepts of constitutional construction, which are that "the Nevada Constitution should be read as a whole, so as to give effect to and harmonize each provision." We the People v. Miller, 124 Nev. 874, 881, 192 P.3d 1166, 1171 (2008)(citing <u>Nevadans for Nevada v.</u> <u>Beers</u>, 122 Nev. 930, 944, 142 P.3d 339, 348 (2006)). Whenever possible, courts interpret "statutes within a statutory scheme harmoniously with one another to avoid an unreasonable or absurd result." <u>Great Basin Water Network v. State</u> Eng'r, 126 Nev. 187, 196, 234 P.3d 912, 918 (2010) (quoting <u>Allstate Insurance</u> <u>Co. v. Fackett</u>, 125 Nev. 132, 138, 206 P.3d 572, 576 (2009)).

No Solar's argument runs afoul of <u>We the People</u> in several respects. First, No Solar's construction of the referendum process embodied in Section 1 of Article 19 conflicts with and, in many cases, renders moot the initiative process outlined in Section 2 of Article 19. No Solar's construction ignores that Article 19 provides *two* separate and distinct processes.

Article 19, Section 1 provides in pertinent part as follows:

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